# NO. 43110-6-II

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

# **RODNEY S. MITUNIEWICZ,**

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR CLARK COUNTY

The Honorable Scott Collier, Judge The Honorable Barbara Johnson, Judge The Honorable Daniel Stahnke, Judge

## **APPELLANT'S BRIEF**

LISA E. TABBUT Attorney for Appellant P. O. Box 1396 Longview, WA 98632 (360) 425-8155

### **

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The evidence did not prove that a pistol in a locked metal security box was easily accessible and readily available to Mr. Mituniewicz for offensive or defensive use.

2. The evidence did not prove that Mr. Mituniewicz was in close proximity to the pistol in the locked metal security box.

3. The imposition of a firearm enhancement infringed Mr. Mituniewicz's Fourteen Amendment right to due process because the evidence was insufficient to prove that he was "armed" with a firearm.

#### **B.** ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A firearm enhancement may not be imposed unless the state presents sufficient evidence that the offender was armed with a firearm. Here the evidence was insufficient to prove that the pistol found in a locked metal security box was easily accessible and readily available for an offensive or defensive purpose, and that Mr. Mituniewicz was in close proximity to the pistol. Did the imposition of a firearm enhancement violate Mr. Mituniewicz's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process?

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

#### **1. Pre-trial motions**

Mr. Mituniewicz was charged with possession of heroin with intent to deliver<sup>1</sup> and unlawful possession of a firearm in the second degree.<sup>2</sup> The State also added enhancements to the charges for possessing a gun and committing the possession with intent charge within 1,000 feet of a school bus stop. CP 3-4.

At the first readiness hearing on November 10, 2011, over Mr. Mituniewicz's objection, defense counsel asked for a continuance of the trial date. Judge Johnson heard the motion. RP1 at 9-11. Defense counsel provided the court with a written motion and supplemented the motion with oral argument. Supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers, Motion to Continue (sub. nom. 11).

Defense counsel wanted more time to conduct discovery and investigate potential pre-trial motions. Her discovery efforts were frustrated by the assigned prosecutor having been in trial for several weeks. She felt she could not effectively represent Mr. Mituniewicz. RP1 at 8-9.

In addition to being in custody on the current charges, Mr. Mituniewicz had also served a 60-day probation violation sentence which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> RCW 69.50.401(1), (2)(a)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> RCW 9.41.040(2)(a)

was actually reduced to 40 days because of good time credit. RP1 at 10-13. He started serving the probation violation sentence on September 22,2011. He was arraigned on the current charges September 29, 2011. RP1 at 1.

The court continued the trial date. The trial was originally scheduled to start on November 14, 2011. RP1 at 6. Judge Johnson moved it to January 9, 2012. RP1 at 14. The court entered a written order which excluded 60 days from the time for trial based on the 60-day probation violation sentence. Supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers, Assignment of Trial Date (sub. nom. 12). In its oral ruling, the court also relied on defense counsel's need for additional time to prepare. RP1 at 12-14.

On January 5, defense counsel again asked to have the trial date continued. RP1 at 52-55. This time, additional time was needed to accommodate a suppression motion. The court granted the request and reset the trial to January 23. RP1 at 60-61.

In addition to moving the trial date to January 23, the court also heard Mr. Mituniewicz himself argue that his right to a speedy trial was violated when Judge Johnson granted defense counsel's motion to continue the first trial date. RP1 at 23-49. The court, Judge Stahnke, refused to upset Judge Johnson's earlier ruling allowing the continuance of the trial date. RP1 at 49.

The court heard and denied a suppression motion on January 9. RP2 at 8-199; Supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers, Motion to Suppress (sub. nom. 17). At the motion hearing, Mr. Mituniewicz argued Department of Corrections (DOC) Community Corrections (CCO) Officer Jennifer Thomas illegally relied on the reduced "reasonable suspicion" applicable to probationers to search a locked metal box Mr. Mituniewicz had had in his possession. He argued Thomas was acting as an agent of the police and the locked box could only lawfully be opened if authorized by the standard applicable to the police: a search warrant issued upon a judicial finding of probable cause. RP2 at 8-199. The court denied the motion. RP2 at 199-203.

Mr. Mituniewicz's trial began on January 23. RP3B at 228.

#### 2. Trial testimony

After the police searched her apartment, Jennifer Coleman decided to cut a deal with the police. In exchange for favorable treatment against future charges, she agreed to get her personal suppliers of heroin to come to the apartment so the police could arrest them. Clark County Sheriff's Detective Bill Sofianos asked Coleman to arrange for a \$1,000 heroin purchase. RP3A at 289, 295-300; RP4B at 645-46. Coleman made a phone call. After a time, Rodney Mituniewicz drove into the apartment complex and walked up to Coleman's door. RP3A at 297-300, 312, 387.

When Detective Sofianos opened the door, Mr. Mituniewicz had a locked metal security box in his hand. RP3A at 303; RP3B at 397. The police arrested Mr. Mituniewicz and seized the metal box. RP3B at 397.

The police searched Mr. Mituniewicz. They found two golf ball sized chunks of suspected heroin in Mr. Mituniewicz's pants pocket. The chunks were wrapped in aluminum foil. RP3B at 395-96. Mr. Mituniewicz also had \$2,103 in cash. Most of the money was in a roll secured by a rubber band but there was also some money in Mr. Mituniewicz's wallet. RP3B at 396-98. Mr. Mituniewicz also had a bunch of keys. RP3A at 304; RP3B at 396.

CCO Jennifer Thomas was working with Detective Sofianos and other members of the Clark County Tactical Detective Unit (TDU) when Mr. Mituniewicz was arrested. She works in conjunction with TDU as TDU's activities often bring them in contact with probationers. RP3A at 352-56. Mr. Mituniewicz was on active probation. RP3A at 356. CCO Thomas used a key from the key ring found on Mr. Mituniewicz to open the locked metal box. RP3A at 357-59. Inside the box she found a magnifying glass, several syringes, baggies of what appeared to be heroin, a key, a lighter, a razor blade, a knife, spoons with brown residue, an electric scale, and an unloaded pistol. RP3A at 363-65; RP3B at .409-13. She turned the box and its contents over to the TDU detectives. RP3B at 399.

Although the pistol had a magazine in it, it was not loaded. Mr. Mituniewicz had no ammunition on his person. There was no ammunition in Mr. Mituniewicz's SUV. RP3A at 326-27.

A police officer later test fired the gun and it was operable. RP 4A at 538-45.

The Washington State Patrol Crime Lab tested one of the two golf ball sized chunks. It tested positive for heroin. The lab did random testing on some of the other suspected heroin found in the metal box. Those items also tested positive for heroin. RP 4A at 468-511.

Detective Sofianos testified about the drug trade in Clark County. He offered that mid-level drug dealers made \$1,000 sales of heroin and that such dealers often carried a gun to prevent being robbed of their cash and product. RP4B at 650-53.

The apartment where Mr. Mituniewicz was arrested was well within 1,000 feet of three school bus stops. RP3A at 293-94; RP3B at 433-443; RP4A at 525-30.

To avoid having his criminal history heard at trial, and for purposes of proof on the unlawful possession of a firearm in the second degree, Mr. Mituniewicz stipulated that he had a prior felony conviction. CP 27.

Mr. Mituniewicz did not testify and presented no defense other than an agreed stipulation that after his arrest he went through heroin withdrawal while in custody. RP5 at 730.

Although the jury considered a lesser included charge of simple possession of heroin, the jury convicted him as charged. CP 49-52.

#### 3. Sentencing

At sentencing, the court determined that Mr. Mituniewicz had an offender score of 17. The prosecutor proved the offender score through a combination of certified copies of judgment and sentences and an agreed stipulation as to criminal history included within one of those certified copies. RP5 at 832-48. The court imposed a 194 month sentence. CP 45.

#### D. ARGUMENT

#### 1. THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE THE UNLOADED PISTOL FOUND IN THE LOCKED CONTAINER WAS EASILY ACCESSIBLE AND READILY AVAILABLE FOR OFFENSIVE OR DEFENSIVE USE, OR THAT MR. MITUNIEWICZ WAS IN CLOSE PROXIMITY TO THE PISTOL.

The due process clause of the Fourteen Amendment requires the state to prove every element of an offense beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct.

1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970). The same is true for sentencing enhancements. *State v. Recuenco*, 163 Wn.2d 428, 180 P.3d 1276 (2008).
Constitutional questions are reviewed de novo. *Bellevue School Dist. v. E.S.*, 171 Wn.2d 695, 702, 257 P.3d 570 (2011).

A firearm enhancement may only be imposed if the prosecution proves that the offender was "armed with a firearm" within the meaning of RCW 9.94A.533. The Supreme Court has expanded the definition of "armed" beyond the colloquial understanding of a person carrying a weapon; however, the "mere presence of a [firearm] at the scene of the crime, mere close proximity of the weapon to the defendant, or constructive possession alone is insufficient to show that the defendant is armed." *State v. Brown*, 162 Wn.2d 422, 431, 173 P.3d 245 (2007). A person is armed with a firearm if it is "easily accessible and readily available for use for either offensive or defensive purposes;" in addition, "there by must be a nexus between the defendant, the crime, and the weapon." *Id.* 

To that end, and for purposes of the charged firearm enhancement, the court instructed the jury:

For purpose of a special verdict, as to Special Verdict Form B - Count 1, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was armed with a firearm at the time of the commission of the crime of Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Deliver- Heroin, in Count 1.

A person is armed with a firearm, if, at the time of the commission of the crime, the firearm is easily accessible and readily available for offensive of defensive use. The State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that there was a connection between the firearm and the defendant. The State must also prove beyond a reasonable doubt that there was a connection between the firearm and the crime. In determining whether these connections existed, you should consider, among other factors, the nature of the crime and the circumstances surrounding the commission of the crime, including the location of the weapon at the time of the crime, the type of weapon.

A firearm is a weapon or device from which a projectile may be fired by an explosive such as gunpowder.

CP 36 (Instruction 28).

Washington Courts have consistently held that a defendant is not "armed" within the meaning of the statute "even though he, presumably, could have obtained a weapon by taking a few steps." *State v. Ague-Masters*, 138 Wn. App. 86, 104, 156 P.3d 265 (2007); see also *State v. Gurske*, 155 Wn.2d 134, 143, 118 P.3d 333 (2005). For example, a defendant arrested at his home (after offering to sell drugs to an undercover agent) is not "armed" with a firearm, even if a rifle is found under his bed. *State v. Valdobinos*, 122 Wn.2d 270, 282, 858 P.2d 199 (1993).

In this case, Mr. Mituniewicz came to Jennifer Coleman's apartment door with \$1,000 worth of heroin wrapped in an aluminum foil. Coleman called Mr. Mituniewicz and asked him to bring that specific

amount of heroin to her. The heroin was in his pocket and easily accessible for a sale and transfer to Coleman. Mr. Mituniewicz needed nothing else to complete the transaction. Nothing in the record suggested that prior drug transactions between Coleman and Mr. Mituniewicz involved a gun.

When Mr. Mituniewicz arrived at Coleman's door, he carried with him a locked metal security box. The key to the box, as well as six other keys, were in his pocket. To open the locked box, he would have to get the keys out of his pocket, locate the right key, and open the locked box. He would then have to dig through the box to get the gun. As such, he was not in close proximity to the gun. Although there was a magazine in the gun, there were no bullets in the magazine. There were no bullets in the box, no bullets on Mr. Mituniewicz's person, and no bullets in Mr. Mituniewicz's SUV. RP3A at 326-27.

The pistol in the locked box was less accessible than the rifle found under the bed in *Valdobinos*. Further, Mr. Mituniewicz made no attempt to put his hands on the keys or open the locked box when the police greeted him at Coleman's door. All of these factors make Mr. Mituniewicz's case like *Valdobinos*, and distinguish it from cases in which the defendant was found to be armed. See e.g., *State v. Schelin*, 147 Wn.2d 562, 55 P.3d 632 (2002). The evidence was insufficient to prove Mr. Mituniewicz was armed with a firearm. *Valdobinos, supra*. Because of this, the firearm enhancements must be vacated and the case remanded for correction of the Judgment and Sentence.

#### E. CONCLUSION

Mr. Mituniewicz's firearm enhancement should be stricken and his case remanded for resentencing.