#### NO. 43110-6-II

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

### STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

V.

### RODNEY STEVEN MITUNIEWICZ, Appellant

## FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.11-1-01530-1

#### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

ANNE M. CRUSER, WSBA #27944 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney 1013 Franklin Street PO Box 5000 Vancouver WA 98666-5000 Telephone (360) 397-2261

##

#### B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 14, 2011 Detective Sofianos of the Clark County Sheriff's Office was conducting an investigation into possible heroin distribution. RP 293. His investigation took place at 11412 NE 49th Street, Apartment G 15, in Vancouver. RP 293. At that apartment, Detective Sofianos was working with a person to set up a drug deal, and he witnessed a phone call in which that person set up the deal. RP 296. Detective Sofianos directed the person to request \$1000 worth of heroin. RP 646. The defendant arrived at the apartment at around nine o'clock in the evening. RP 300. When the defendant knocked on the door Detective Sofianos opened the door and greeted him. RP 303. Detective Sofianos was in his police uniform at that time. RP 303. The defendant was carrying a black metal Sentry lockbox in one hand and a set of keys in the other. RP 303. The defendant was placed under arrest at that time. RP 304. Detective Sofianos took the black box from the defendant and took the keys from his hand while other officers cuffed him. RP 304. One of the keys was for the black box. RP 312.

Jennifer Thomas, the defendant's CCO, was working with Detective Sofianos' unit that day. She took the keys that were recovered from the defendant and opened the black box. RP 357. Inside, she found a handgun, a digital scale with residue on it, a magnifying glass, several syringes, several baggies containing suspected heroin, a key, a couple of spoons, a lighter, a razor blade and a knife. RP 362-64, 408, 411. During the search of the defendant the officers recovered \$2313. RP 389-90. They also recovered two golf ball sized balls of a substance they suspected was heroin wrapped in aluminum foil from his pocket. RP 395-96. One of those balls was tested and found to contain heroin. RP 468-500. Detective Yoder testified that he was the evidence officer during this arrest and when asked to take the lock box key and open the lock box for the jury, he demonstrated and testified that it only took a matter of seconds to do so. RP 408. The firearm found in the box had an unloaded magazine in it. RP 413. The firearm was an operable firearm. RP 545.

Detective Kevin Schmidt testified that one must always assume a firearm is loaded and that even though he knew the gun was unloaded as he spoke to the jury, he nevertheless would never point it at anyone. RP 551. To do so would violate "basic firearms fundamentals." RP 551.

Detective Sofianos testified that drug dealers who deal in in larger amounts will typically possess firearms so they can protect their earnings and their product from "drug rips." RP 652-55.

The jury returned a verdict of guilty to the charge of possession of heroin with the intent to deliver, and returned a verdict finding that he was armed with a firearm during the commission of the crime. CP 49-52.

#### C. ARGUMENT

I. THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO PROVE THAT THE DEFENDANT WAS ARMED WITH A FIREARM DURING THE COMMISSION OF THE CRIME.

The State is required under the Due Process Clause to prove all the necessary elements of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1; *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 362-65, 90 S. Ct 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970); *State v. Colquitt*, 133 Wn. App. 789, 796, 137 P.3d 893 (2006). When determining whether there is sufficient evidence to support a conviction, the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the State. *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). If "any rational jury could find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt", the evidence is deemed sufficient. *Id.* An appellant challenging the sufficiency of evidence presented at a trial "admits the truth of the State's evidence" and all reasonable inferences there from are drawn in favor of the State. *State v. Goodman*,

150 Wn.2d 774, 781, 83 P.2d 410 (2004). When examining the sufficiency of the evidence, circumstantial evidence is just as reliable as direct evidence. *State v. Delmarter*, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980).

The appellate court's role does not include substituting its judgment for the jury's by reweighing the credibility of witnesses or importance of the evidence. *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). "It is not necessary that [we] could find the defendant guilty. Rather, it is sufficient if a reasonable jury could come to this conclusion." *United States v. Enriquez-Estrada*, 999 F.2d 1358 (9th Cir. 1993), (quoting *United States v. Nicholson*, 677 F.2d 706, 708 (9th Cir. 1982)).

The determination of the credibility of a witness or evidence is solely within the scope of the jury and not subject to review. *State v. Myers*, 133 Wn.2d 26, 38, 941 P.2d 1102 (1997) (citing *State v. Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990). "The fact finder...is in the best position to evaluate conflicting evidence, witness credibility, and the weight to be assigned to the evidence." *State v. Olinger*, 130 Wn. App. 22, 26, 121 P.3d 724 (2005) (citations omitted).

In determining whether the evidence is sufficient to uphold a jury's finding that a defendant was armed with a firearm during the commission of the crime, it is necessary to first identify whether the defendant was in actual or constructive possession of the gun. The majority of the cases which make up appellate lore in this area are constructive possession cases. See e.g. State v. Valdobinos, 122 Wn.2d 270, 858 P.2d 199 (1993); State v. Williams, 85 Wn. App. 508, 933 P.2d 1072 (1997); State v. Simonsen, 91 Wn. App. 874, 960 P.2d 955 (1998); State v. Johnson, 94 Wn. App. 882, 974 P.2d 855 (1999); State v. Schelin, 147 Wn.2d 562, 55 P.3d 632 (2002); State v. Gurske, 155 Wn.2d 134, 118 P.3d 333 (2005); State v. Willis, 153 Wn.2d 366, 103 P.3d 1213 (2005); State v. Neff, 163 Wn.2d 453, 181 P.3d 819 (2008); State v. Brown, 162 Wn.2d 422, 173 P.3d 245 (2007); State v. Eckenrode, 159 Wn.2d 488, 150 P.3d 1116 (2006).1

---

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Eckenrode is an unusual case. The defendant had called the police to report that an intruder was at his home. He told the dispatcher that he was armed and prepared to shoot the intruder. When the police arrived, he was sitting on his front lawn in a deck chair with his housekeeper, apparently relaxing. The officers searched the home for an intruder and found evidence of a marijuana growing operation as well as several firearms. Eckenrode at 491-92. In affirming his firearm enhancement, which rested on his constructive possession of a loaded rifle and an unloaded pistol inside the house, the Court relied heavily on his prior actual possession of a gun, which he stated he was prepared to use to repel an intruder. However, the Court also relied on other factors such as his possession of a police scanner and the fact that there was "pervasive evidence that much of the house was used for drug production." Eckenrode at 495.

A person is "armed" if "a weapon is easily accessible and readily available for use, either for offensive or defensive purposes." *Eckenrode*, supra, at 493 (quoting *State v. Valdobinos*, supra, at 282). In a constructive possession case there must be "a nexus between the weapon and the defendant and between the weapon and the crime." *State v. Schelin*, supra, at 567–68 (plurality opinion); *Schelin*, *A1* Wn.2d at 576–77 (Alexander, C.J., concurring); *accord State v. Gurske*, supra, at 138. Whether a defendant is "armed" presents "a particularly difficult question when the defendant had only constructive possession over a weapon." *State v. Easterlin*, 159 Wn.2d 203, 206, 149 P.3d 366, 369 (2006).

In *State v. Easterlin*, 126 Wn. App. 170, 173, 107 P.3d 773 (2005), this Court distinguished constructive possession cases such as *Schelin*, *Willis* and *Valdobinos* (supra) and held:

In a constructive possession case, the nexus test ensures that a defendant will not face a sentencing enhancement due to the incidental presence of a firearm. As noted in *Schelin*, "[if] an assault with a beer bottle occurs in a kitchen, a defendant is not necessarily 'armed' with a deadly weapon because knives are kept in the kitchen." 147 Wash.2d at 570, 55 P.3d 632. When a defendant actually possesses a weapon during the commission of a crime, the protections of the nexus requirement become irrelevant.

Easterlin at 173. On review of the Court of Appeal's decision in Easterlin the Supreme Court held:

The State urges us to hold that in cases of actual possession of a weapon, it is never obligated to establish a connection on the theory that a person in possession of a weapon is clearly "armed" within common understanding. The Court of Appeals agreed, and we accepted review primarily to determine whether this is necessarily always correct. The State is likely correct that in actual possession cases, it will rarely be necessary to go beyond the commonly used "readily accessible and easily available" instruction. However, the instructions in a particular case must be adequate to permit the parties to argue their theory of the case. State v. Dana, 73 Wash.2d 533, 537, 439 P.2d 403 (1968) (citing Smith v. McDaniel, 53 Wash.2d 604, 610, 335 P.2d 582 (1959)). Depending on the evidence, it would not be error and would perhaps be appropriate for the court to instruct the jury there be a connection between the weapon and the crime to allow the parties to argue their theory of the case.

State v. Easterlin, 159 Wn. 2d 203, 209, 149 P.3d 366, 369 (2006).

This case is an actual possession case rather than a constructive possession case. The defendant had the gun in a small box that was in his hand. It could be retrieved in mere seconds by use of the key that the defendant held in his other hand. The defendant's possession in this case is no different than a woman possessing a gun in a purse that she carries over her shoulder or zipped inside a wrist bag. The gun was readily available for offensive or defensive purposes. That the gun was unloaded is not dispositive. *Simonsen*, supra, at 883. The purpose of a gun is not simply to kill but to intimidate. The person staring down the barrel of a gun has no way of knowing that it isn't loaded. As the Supreme Court noted in *Gurske*, supra:

The legislature has expressly recognized that armed individuals engaged in criminal conduct might use a deadly weapon for "several key reasons including: Forcing victim to comply with their demands; injuring or killing anyone who tries to stop the criminal aiding the criminal in escaping." Laws of 1995, ch. 129, § 1(1)(b) (Initiative Measure No. 159)... In the case of a possession offense, for example, a weapon could be used to obtain drugs (by theft or otherwise), to protect the drugs, or to prevent investigation or apprehension by the police at the time they discover the drugs or seek to execute a warrant. Regardless of the offense, whether the defendant is armed at the time a crime is committed cannot be answered in the same way in every case.

State v. Gurske, supra, at 139 (emphasis added). The jury could reasonably infer that the defendant possessed the gun in this case to protect either the two golf ball sized balls of heroin or the \$2313 in cash he carried on his person. The nexus requirement, even if it were required to be shown here in this case of actual possession, was easily met where the defendant brought a handgun to a drug deal in which he believed he would be selling \$1000 of heroin.

The evidence is sufficient to sustain the jury's finding that the defendant was armed with a firearm during the commission of the crime.

#### D. CONCLUSION

The evidence is sufficient to sustain the jury's finding that the defendant was armed with a firearm during the commission of the crime.